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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN! PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 
The KiMo Theater, located on the northeast corner of Central Avenue and 

Fifth Street in the heart of downtown Albuquerque, is a steel frame and brick 
structure, three stories high with a fly loft five stories high. The exte­
rior is finished with strongly textured light brown stucco with ornamental 
details of glazed terra cotta tile and relief work in vivid colors. Built in 
1926-27 for both motion picture and stage productions, the auditorium has a 
procenium stage and a seating capacity of 1300.

The south elevation, fronting on Central Avenue, is 75' wide with an 
overall height of 44*6". It has three levels, an entrance foyer flanked by 
retail space on either side and offices on levels two and three. A large 
marquee, added in the 1950's, now spans the width of the building replacing 
the original iron one which covered only the central entrance foyer and box 
office. It has not yet been determined whether or not the original tile 
work and wooden grills lie behind the present marquee. Originally a large 
vertical electric sign with name "KiMo" projected out from the building 
above the marquee, but this was removed in 1972. With the exception of 
window frame replacements, the rest of the south elevation frontispiece at 
levels two cmd three is intact with all its original tile work and relief 
ornament in place.

The west elevation, facing Fifth Street, is 142' long, 44'6" at the south 
end, stepping down to 40' and finally to 23' at the north end. Overall 
condition of this facade is excellent; the original tile work and ornament 
are intact. The only alteration has been to the retail shop facade at the 
southwest corner where originally the two recessed bays were windowed, with 
tile above and below. The windows were removed, filled in, plastered over 
and new incongruent tile was added. Facing onto a service alley the north 
elevation is 75' wide including a fly loft tower which is 60' high. The 
surface of this facade is exposed red brick, with large double stage doors, 
an emergency exit and access to the mechanical system. The bowstring roof 
over the auditorium is 46' high.

The entrance to the theater is through a vestibule which was remodeled in 
the 1950's. The original Indian symbols painted on the ceiling and vigas 
(beams) and the orneunental details of the corbels were removed at that time. 
The original murals have been overpainted with others. The lighting fixtures 
which represented the so-called "Farewell Canoe" were also lost. The "Canoe,' 
was supposed to have carried a dead warrior and was towed by an eagle. 
Perimeter cove lighting has been added to the walls two feet below the 
celling.

The adjoining lobby is two floors high and is overlooked by an open 
mezzanine with stairways on either side. Large quadrature murals adorn the 
upper walls of the lobby, visible from the mezzanine. The murals, which 
depict the legendary "Seven Cities of Cfbola," the cities of gold for which 
the first Spanish Conqulstadores were searching, were painted by German-born 
artist Carl von Hassler, who died in 1969. Wrought iron railings on the 
stairs and mezzanine repeat the outline of a bird, an Indian symbol believed 
to signify Freedom. The railings were designed by Robert E. Powers of New 
York and fabricated by Gilbert Electric Company of Albuquerque, who also 
manufactured other hardware in the building. Carpeting in the vestibule,

(See Continuation Sheet Page 1)
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the lobby, on the stairs and the mezzanine covers the original ceramic tile 
which was produced by the Denver Mantle and Tile Ccanpany. The large vigas 
in the lobby are detailed with vividly painted symbolic Indian designs. 
Between the vigas are oval zig-zag patterned lancunars from which chandeliers 
are hung. There are five square support columns detailed with plaster of 
Paris ornamentation topped by longhorn skull sconces.

The auditorium is almost square, 72' wide by 75' long, with seating for 
850 in the orchestra cmd 450 in the balcony. Orchestra seating is arranged 
in three sections bordered by aisles. The balcony, divided by a large cross 
aisle, has em upper section of seven rows and a lower section of five rows. 
The auditorium ceiling is spanned by large vigas crossed by smaller ones. 
Alternate sections between the smaller vigas are coffered with the zig-zag 
Indian lightning symbol. Painted on the vigas are buffalo Yei figures of 
Navajo mythology - the sun, bird, swastika and lightning. The underside of 
the balcony has decorated vigas and between them are round zig-zag patterned 
lancunars similar to those in the lobby. The principal lighting fixtures 
which also represented the so-called "Farewell Canoe" were destroyed by fire 
in the late forties. The side walls are decorated with ornamental plaster 
of Paris bucranium reliefs, with longhorn skull sconces. An almost classical 
bucrane frieze with longhorn skulls and Indian symbols bordered the procenium 
arch. The procenium and the splay walls with wood grills which concealed 
the organ, were damaged by fire in 1962, and finally removed to accommodate 
a larger movie screen.

The symbol language of the Indian people is depicted in form as well as 
in the vivid color of the ornamental detail. The sun, bird and swastika, 
repeated throughout the theater, are symbols meaning happiness, freedom euid 
good luck. Colors have symbolic significance varying with use. To 
symbolize direction, white is usually east, blue is south, yellow is west, 
and black is north. Blue is also the zenith and black and white spots the 
nadir. These designations differ on occasion. Usually the face of the sun 
is blue,* that of the moon white. Abstract symbolism is also implied in 
certain colors, such as blue for peace and happiness, white for day, hope 
and beginning.

The orchestra pit at the front of the auditorium has been covered. A 
room beneath the stage contains mechanical equipment and provides access to 
the orchestra pit. By removing the procenium, both stage wings were 
eliminated, and modifying the splay walls reduced the dressing room space.
The fly loft has been closed with a dropped ceiling. The projection booth 
is located at the rear of the balcony and a door connects it to the third 
floor offices. A doorway links the mezzanine with the second floor offices. 
The second and third floor offices, some of which are occupied, comprise 
3,596 square feet and are accessible from a Central Avenue entrance. The 
entire building contains approximately 22,534 gross square feet and in spite 
of numerous fires and other mishaps the theater is in good condition.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The movie palace represents a notable American architectural phenomenon, 
"some of the richest and most extravagantly romantic architecture this 
country has ever produced," in the words of Ada Louise Huxtable, architec­
tural critic for the New York Tiroes. The KiMO Theater, built in 1926-27 is
a notable regional example of theater architecture which embodies architec­
tural traditions of New Mexico and the art and culture of the American 
IndlELn of the Southwest.

At the turn of the century there was not one building devoted to cinemat­
ographic use in the country. By the 1920's movie madness was sweeping the 
world and the design of movie theaters became a unique specialty. Two 
schools of thought developed in theater design. The "atmospheric" school 
advocated the creation of a completely artificial environment, in the words 
of George Rapp, "a shrine to democracy where there are no privileged patrons. 
The "hard top" school used neo-classical forms. The design of the KiMo does 
not adhere strictly to either concept and the result is a romanticized 
regional style of architecture. In 1925 Oreste Bachechi, a prominent and 
successful member of the Italian community in Albuquerque and owner of the 
Pastime Theater, made plans to build a new movie palace. Bachechi went to 
Hollywood to find a architect for the new theater which he planned to 
build at the corner of Fifth and Central. He met Carl Boiler, senior 
partner of Boiler Brothers, AIA, whose brother Robert maintained an office in 
Kansas City. The firm had designed several theaters and they were considered 
"Theatrical Architects." When Boiler first came to Albuquerque to inspect 
the site he thought the location was too far out of to%m, but with subsequent 
trips his enthusiasm for the project grew. He travelled all over New Mexico, 
visiting Indian pueblos and reservations, and gathering a wealth of design 
material. Pablo Abelta, well-known governor of the Pueblo of Isleta, and 
founder of the All-Pueblo Indian Council, suggested the name for the theater 
to Boiler: KiMo, meaning "king of its kind."

After months of research Boiler showed Bachechi a watercolor rendering of 
the interior concept proposed for the KiMo. This rendering is included In 
Ben M. Hall's The Remaining Seats. Longhorn skulls bordered the procenium 
and were used elsewhere as light fixtures. Indian blankets took the place 
of the usual tapestries. The sun, bird and swastika, symbols meaning Life, 
Freedom and Happiness, were repeated throughout the theater. The Indian 
motifs and ceremonial masks used so extensively were painted in symbolic 
colors of the Southwest. The design was certainly appropriate for the locale

(See Continuation Sheet Page 2)
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Oreste Bachechl was very pleased with Boiler's concept for the theater 

and the details of the building were then worked out. Boiler contracted 
with George Williamson of Albuquerque to oversee construction as associate 
architect. The firm of Robert E. McKee was hired for the construction. In 
a little over a year, at a cost of $150,000, including $18,000 for the 
elaborate organ, the KiMo was completed.

The theater opened on September 19, 1927. Two thousand people jammed the 
theater. Albuquerque Mayor Clyde Tingley, who later beceune governor of New 
Mexico, U.S. Senator Sam G. Bratton, former Governor Arthur T. Hannett and 
Indian leaders from Tesuque, Cochiti and Isleta Pueblos and the Navajo 
Reservation attended the opening. The program featured sixty Indian dancers, 
Indian singers and a film, Patsy Ruth Miller and Glen Tyron in “Painting the 
Town."

The same year the KiMo opened, Warner Brothers introduced the "talkies." 
Acoustically, the theater presented no major problems and, with relatively 
few changes, the theater enjoyed a long and prosperous life. With the 
decline of downtown Albuquerque and changes in theater operations and 
audiences, the KiMo, like theaters all over the country, could no longer be 
operated profitably. It closed in 1968 but was later reopened once for a 
season of musical theater productions and again for a rock music concert in 
1972.

The City of Albuquerque is now considering the purchase of the KiMo for 
restoration as a theater and as the nucleus of a center for the performing 
arts. It is a fine example of regional theater architecture which incor­
porates New Mexico's architectural and cultural heritage in its rich and 
elaborate ornamentation.

Hall, Ben M., ed. The Best Remaining Seats. New York, 1961. 
Interviews with Victor Bachechl, November-December, 1973.
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CULTURAL PROPERTIES REVIEW COMMITTEE
Jury Ap
Governor

ThomM W. M«rlan 
Hlitoric Prawrvation Officer

Albert H. Schroeder, Chairman 
John P. Conron, Vice-Chairman 
Dr. Myra Ellen Jenkins. Secretary 
Georsye C. Peart

Stewart L. Peckham 
Or. Marc Simmons 
Dr. Spencer Wilton

November 23, 1976

Dr. William J. Murtagh 
Keeper of the National Register 
The National Register of Historic Places 
U.S. Department of the Interior \\
National Park Service 
18th and C Streets, N.W.
Washington, D. C. 20240

Dear Dr. Murtagh:
Enclosed find forms 10-300 and 10-301, with supporting 

photographs and maps, proposing the following historic 
property to the National Register of Historic Places.

The KiMo Theater, Bernalillo

The site was recommended unanimously to the National 
Register on July 30, 1976 by the Cultural Properties Review 
Committee.

Sincerely,

Albert H. Schroeder 
Chairman

AHS:t11 

Enclosures

Room 403 Exacutiva • Lagislativa Building, Santa Fa. Naw Maxico 87503
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(5C») 827-2073

November 24, 1976

JERRY APOOACA
GOvimiQn

Dr. William J. Murtajjh 
Keeper of the National Register 
U.S. Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 
18th and C Streets, N.W.
Washington, D. C. 20240

Dear Dr. Murtagh:

Enclosed please find National Register Nomination 
Forms 10-300 and 10-301 with supporting photographs 
and maps for The KiMo Theater in Bernalillo.

The property has been unanimously recommended to 
me for nomination to the National Register of Historic 
Places by the New Mexico Cultural Properties Review 
Committee and is being presented for your approval.

If you have any questions or require additional 
information, do not hesitate to contact my office.

Sincerely,
CO A4u^

Thomas W. Merlan, State 
Historic Preservation 

Officer

TWM:t111

Enclosures
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Advisory 

Council On 

Historic 

Preservation
1522 K Streel. NW 
Washington. DC 20005

Reply to: Lake Plaza South, Suite 616 
44 Union Boulevard 
Lakewood. CO 80228

June 12. 1981

Mr. Jonathon L. Harkley 
Acting Regional Environmental Officer 
Southwestern Regional Office 
Economic Development Administration 
600 American Bank Tower 
221 West 6th Street 
Austin, Texas 78701

Dear Mr. Harkley:

In accordance with the special condition in the offer of grant concurred 
in hy the Council March 17, 1981, we have reviewed the final plans and 
project specifications for the proposed rehabilitation of the KiMo 
in Albuquerque, New Mexico. We have no further comment to offer~except 
to note the New Mexico State Historic Preservation Officer's (SHPO) 
opposition to the use of bronze, tinted or reflective glazing in lieu 
of clear glass. In this matter, we defer to the wishes of the SHPO. 
Should your office and the SHPO fail to agree on the subject of suitable 
glazing or on any other point in the execution of this undertaking, we 
request the Economic Development Administration again seek the Council's 

comments.
Thank you for your cooperation regarding this undertaking.

Sincerely,

'Xoui a /S^Wall 
ChiefV^estem Division 

of Project Review
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